STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable J. C. Buddy Nicholson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RECEIVED  
DEC 18 2018  
SC Court of Appeals  
RESPONDENT,

V.

HENRY JAMES FICKLING, JR.,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-000515

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial court erred in refusing appellant's requested jury instruction that he had no duty to retreat because appellant was inside his home when he was attacked by the decedent, a boarder in his house?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In February 2017, a Charleston County grand jury indicted appellant Henry James Fickling, Jr. for murder. R. \_\_\_\_\_. On March 12, 2018, appellant was tried before the Honorable J. C. Nicholson and a jury. Tr. 1. Richard Waring and David Osborne represented the State. Tr. 1. Jason King and Nicholas D'Angelo represented appellant. Tr. 1. The jury convicted appellant. Tr. 606, ll. 17 – 21. Judge Nicholson sentenced appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. Tr. 615, ll. 4 – 6. This appeal follows.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“A self-defense charge is erroneous where the trial court fails to charge on elements of the defense which were applicable to the issues raised by the defendant.” *State v. Day*, 341 S.C. 410, 418, 535 S.E.2d 431, 435 (2000).

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in refusing appellant's requested jury instruction that he had no duty to retreat because appellant was inside his home when he was attacked by the decedent, a boarder in his house.

The State charged appellant Henry Fickling ("Fickling") with the murder of Jeff Shiver ("Shiver"), a man who rented a room in Fickling's trailer. Tr. 452, l. 15 – 454, l. 9. The trailer had three bedrooms, one bathroom, and was in poor condition. Tr. 202, ll. 17 – 24. Fickling lived in the trailer with his girlfriend, Allura Boyd ("Boyd") and paid \$200.00 a month for what, from Fickling's testimony, was likely an owner-financed mortgage or bond for title. Tr. 449, l. 19 – 450, l. 3. Fickling rented one bedroom to Shiver and another to Jamie Lunney ("Lunney"). Tr. 450, ll. 4 – 25. Tr. 202, ll. 8 – 24.

Lunney was not home when Shiver died, but testified for the State and described the living arrangements in the trailer. Tr. 202, l. 21 – 203, l. 6. Tr. 209, ll. 1 – 17. Lunney answered an ad on Craigslist and did not know any of her roommates before she moved into the trailer. Tr. 201, l. 19 – 203, l. 5. Lunney testified that Boyd rarely left her room. Tr. 204, ll. 14 – 18. Boyd "didn't go out into the world a whole lot" and large groups of people made her "very anxious." Tr. 148, l. 2 – 149, l. 3.

It took Lunney over a week to meet Shiver because he "would hide in his room." Tr. 204, l. 24 – 205, l. 9. Shiver had a severe drinking problem. Tr. 205, ll. 5 – 11. Vodka was Shiver's drink of choice and Boyd believed that Shiver drank a gallon every day. Tr. 205, ll. 5 – 9. Tr. 152, l. 23 – 153, l. 4.

Shiver drank so much that he would not even leave his bedroom to urinate or vomit. Tr. 206, ll. 17 – 23. Lunney said Shiver's room was "a mess" and had "obviously the smell of urine

and vomit.” Tr. 224, ll. 5 – 12. Shiver had trouble walking and opening the refrigerator. Tr. 206, ll. 17 – 23. Lunney said, “I’ve never seen him walk in a normal way. He always seemed weak.” Tr. 216, ll. 6 – 10. Approximately one month before his death, Fickling and Boyd called EMS and Shiver was taken to the emergency room for seizures related to alcohol withdrawal. Tr. 426, l. 2 – 427, l. 20. Tr. 462, l. 15 – 465, l. 17. Fickling guessed they called EMS three separate times because of Shiver’s alcoholism. Tr. 466, ll. 4 – 10. Shiver also smoked crack, often with Fickling. Tr. 205, ll. 12 – 24. Tr. 457, l. 22 – 458, l. 18.

The State’s theory of the case was that Fickling killed Shiver because he had been stealing money from Shiver’s bank account using Shiver’s debit card. Tr. 72, ll. 3 – 21. The State called a banker who testified about withdrawals made during the time leading up to Shiver’s death. Tr. 351, l. 13 – 360, l. 16. The bank sent Shiver a letter about suspicious activity on his account dated September 11, 2016. Tr. 360, l. 18 – 361, l. 18. The police obtained surveillance video showing Fickling using Shiver’s debit card. Tr. 370, l. 13 – 378, l. 7. Boyd testified that Fickling took the money without Shiver’s permission and directed him to change the trailer’s wifi password so Shiver could not check his account balance. Tr. 130, l. 23 – 131, l. 14. Tr. 134, l. 21 – 135, l. 4. The pathologist testified that Shiver had multiple injuries resulting from blunt force trauma and died from wounds to the head and neck. Tr. 388, l. 16 – 391, l. 12.

Fickling testified in his own defense and denied stealing from Shiver. Tr. 460, l. 24 – 462, l. 14. Shiver gave Fickling the PIN for his debit card because Shiver was incapable of going out and running errands—especially for vodka—for himself. Tr. 460, l. 24 – 462, l. 14. Fickling said he “waited on [Shiver] hand and foot” and that Shiver bought him things in return. Tr. 457, ll. 10 – 21.

On the day of Shiver's death, Shiver called Fickling into his room and told him he need vodka. Tr. 474, ll. 3 – 6. Shiver also wanted to use the house phone and Fickling took it to him. Tr. 478, l. 19 – 482, l. 13. Shiver's hands were sticky from power drinks and he was getting the phone dirty, which led to Shiver and Fickling beginning to argue. Tr. 478, l. 19 – 482, l. 13. Fickling told Shiver "we ain't having no more parties" and that Shiver would have to stop drinking vodka in his room. Tr. 478, l. 19 – 482, l. 13. Fickling noticed that Shiver had been throwing up behind his and vomit was "all over the place." Tr. 478, l. 19 – 482, l. 13.

While Fickling was looking at the vomit, Shiver attacked him. Tr. 478, l. 19 – 482, l. 13. Shiver hit Fickling in the mouth, choked him, and kneed him in the groin. Tr. 478, l. 19 – 482, l. 13. Fickling defended himself with a nail puller that he had in his pocket. Tr. 478, l. 19 – 482, l. 13. After defending himself, Fickling said he was horrified, shocked, and exhausted. Tr. 478, l. 19 – 482, l. 13.

Fickling admitted that he attempted to deceive the police after Shiver's death. Tr. 485, l. 21 – 486, l. 2. He was afraid of jail and losing his house and possessions. Tr. 485, l. 21 – 486, l. 2. Fickling had Boyd give the police an alibi which she ultimately recanted under intense questioning and threats by the police. Tr. 139, l. 18 – 142, l. 19. Tr. 184, l. 6 – 187, l. 17. Fickling called the police hours after Shiver's death and told them his roommate was not responsive and about Shiver's seizures. Tr. 84, l. 8 – 89, l. 11.

At the charge conference, Fickling asked the court to charge that he had "no duty to retreat inside his home." Tr. 543, l. 8 – 545, l. 5. Defense counsel cited State v. Osborne, 202 S.C. 473, 25 S.E.2d 561 (1943). Defense counsel recited the evidence that Shiver asked Fickling to come into his room and then he was attacked. Tr. 543, l. 8 – 545, l. 5. The trial judge said, "So to be perfectly honest with you, I don't know if he was an invited guest or trespasser, or

licensee or what.” Tr. 543, l. 8 – 545, l. 5. The trial judge then said, “I don’t view this as a stand your ground situation,” and declined to charge the jury appellant had no duty to retreat, but told defense counsel he could put his objections on the record after the charge. Tr. 543, l. 8 – 545, l. 5.

The court charged self-defense, but did not tell the jury appellant had no duty to retreat. Tr. 595, l. 7 – 598, l. 15. Judge Nicholson charged that the “final element of self-defense is that the defendant had no other probable way to avoid the danger of death or serious bodily injury than to act as the defendant did in this particular instance.” Tr. 597, ll. 18 – 22.

After the charge, defense counsel again asked for a charge that appellant had no duty to retreat if he was on his own premises or was an invited guest in Shiver’s room. Tr. 601, l. 6 – 602, l. 5. The court interrupted and said “the victim rented the room and it was his premises; even though he didn’t—it was his premises and the defendant had no right to enter that room without permission.” Tr. 543, l. 8 – 545, l. 5. Defense counsel pointed out Fickling’s testimony that Shiver invited him into the room and the judge again interrupted and told defense counsel to submit a charge in writing. Tr. 543, l. 8 – 545, l. 5.

Defense counsel submitted a written charge which was made Court’s Exhibit 5. The requested charge read, “If the defendant was on his own premises, the defendant had no duty to retreat before acting in self-defense.” R. \_\_\_\_ (Court’s Ex. 5). Appellant cited State v. Jackson, 227 S.C. 271, 87 S.E.2d 681 (1955). R. \_\_\_\_ (Court’s Ex. 5). Before the jury returned its verdict, Judge Nicholson asked whether the written charge had been submitted and defense counsel so informed the court. Tr. 604, l. 1 – 605, l. 6. Defense counsel told the court:

I abandoned the argument I was trying to make if like you’re a guest in somebody else’s home that you can still stand your ground but the more I read the case I don’t think that was correct. So I just submitted a duty to retreat if you are

on your own premises. So if you are right about the landlord with him renting a room that may not be an issue. So that's what I submitted.

Tr. 604, l. 25 – 605, l. 6. Without hearing further argument, the court received the verdict. Tr. 605, ll. 7 – 19.

The trial judge erred by refusing to charge that appellant had no duty to retreat because he was in his home. Defense counsel correctly cited this common law principle from State v. Jackson, 227 S.C. at 279, 87 S.E.2d at 685. Shiver's status as a tenant and the fight taking place in Shiver's room does not alter this legal principle. In State v. Gordon, the Court adopted the following rule:

Where a house, premises, or place of business is jointly occupied, used, and possessed by two persons, as by partners, joint tenants, or tenants in common, each joint occupant, being equally entitled to possession, need not retreat when attacked while in the building or premises by the other joint occupant.

128 S.C. 422, 122 S.E. 501, 502-03 (1924) quoting 30 C.J. 72 § 245. In Gordon, the defendant and his assailant were co-workers both at their place of employment and the Court held neither had the duty to retreat. Id.

The rule was restated in State v. Grantham, 224 S.C. 41, 77 S.E.2d 291 (1953) where a husband shot his wife in self-defense. The Grantham Court stated:

The rule is the same whether the attack proceeds from some other occupant or from an intruder. It was so adjudged in Jones v. State, 76 Ala. 8, 14. 'Why,' it was there inquired 'should one retreat from his own house, when assailed by a partner or cotenant, any more than when assailed by a stranger who is lawfully upon the premises? Whither shall he flee, and how far, and when may he be permitted to return?' We think that the conclusion there reached is sustained by principle, and we have not been referred to any decision to the contrary.

Grantham at 44-45, 77 S.E.2d at 292-93 quoting People v. Tomlins, 213 N.Y. 240 (1914).

The principle, "Whither shall he flee, and how far," applies to this case and shows the error committed by the trial judge. The judge erroneously reasoned that because the fight

took place inside the room rented by Shiver, Fickling was not on his “own premises” and therefore had the duty to retreat. This reasoning belongs to the sphere of real property and landlord-tenant law and is too fine a distinction for the law of self-defense. Under the court’s reasoning, Fickling was required to retreat perhaps two or three feet into the common area of his house while he was under attack. The law of self-defense recognizes these situations are fluid and happen quickly.

Fickling and Shiver both had access to the entire house. Depriving Fickling of the right to retreat in his own home merely because he stepped (at Shiver’s invitation) across the threshold of Shiver’s door to his bedroom adds needless complexity to self-defense. The Court should not draw lines between tenants, subtenants, roommates when all live under one roof. See State v. White, 819 N.W.2d 473, 480 (Neb. Ct. App. 2012). In White, the court ruled that cohabitants have no duty to retreat from each other in their own home. Id. The defendant in White stabbed his roommate. Id. at 475-75. The court reasoned, “Such a rule leads to more uniform application than a rule that requires distinctions about the lawful or unlawful status of an attacking occupant.” Id. at 480. See also Navarro v. State, 190 So.3d 212 (Fla Ct. App. 2016) (holding that roommates had no duty to retreat).

To hold otherwise would mean the law of self-defense would then depend on the circumstances of each living situation and such situations have become legion. The far better rule is leave the technicalities of landlord-tenant law to situations that do not involve roommates sharing a single residence. Here, Fickling and Shiver both lived under the same roof. Fickling had no duty to retreat and was entitled to such an instruction. The court erred in refusing this instruction and this added a burdensome element of self-defense to Fickling’s case that should properly have been eliminated. This Court should reverse.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse appellant's convictions and remand for a new trial.

A handwritten signature in black ink, appearing to read 'D. Alexander', written over a horizontal line.

David Alexander  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT