ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

HENRY JAMES FICKLING, JR.,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2018-000515

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 68383
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAR 18 2019

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to instruct the Appellant, who was an invited guest and landlord of the victim, had no duty to retreat from the premises of the victim when Appellant entered the rented bedroom of the victim to discuss the victim's eviction from the room.

The relevant facts are undisputed: Shiver was Fickling's tenant, renting one bedroom in Fickling's home. The attack occurred in Shiver's bedroom, and Fickling argued he was invited into the room by Shiver. Thus, there are two questions before the court: Whether Fickling's role as an invited guest absolved him of his duty to retreat and whether Fickling was entitled to instruct the jury he had no duty to retreat from his "premises" (referring to his tenant's bedroom) before using deadly force. The first question has been addressed by the courts. The latter question appears to be unsettled law in South Carolina.

Ordinarily, under the law of self-defense known as the Castle Doctrine, one who is attacked on his own premises is immune from the duty to retreat. *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 373, 752 S.E.2d 263, 267 (2013); *State v. Merriman*, 287 S.C. 74, 337 S.E.2d 218 (1985); *State v. Sales*, 285 S.C. 113, 328 S.E.2d 619 (1985). Likewise, a lawful guest attacked in the owner's home has no duty to retreat where the attacker is an intruder. *State v. Osborne*, 202 S.C. 473, 25 S.E.2d 561 (1943); *State v. Osborne*, 200 S.C. 504, 21 S.E.2d 178 (1942). Conversely, where the attacker is the homeowner, a lawful guest has a duty to retreat before a claim of self-defense will stand. *State v. Chambers*, 310 S.C. 43, 425 S.E.2d 45 (Ct.App.1992); *State v. Brown*, 321 S.C. 184, 187-88, 467 S.E.2d 922, 924 (1996).

Fickling conceded he was an "invited guest" in to Shiver's room, erroneously relying on *State v. Osborne*, 202 S.C. 473, 25 S.E.2d 561 (1943) for the proposition that a lawful guest attacked in the home of another person has no duty to retreat. As the *Chambers* court pointed

out, however, this principle is inapplicable where the attacker is the homeowner. *Chambers*, 310 S.C. at 44, 425 S.E.2d at 46. As applied to the facts at hand, and as proposed by Fickling, Shiver was the homeowner of the bedroom and Fickling was the invited guest when he entered the room. According to Fickling's testimony, he, as the guest, was attacked by the homeowner, his tenant. Pursuant to *Chambers*, Fickling had a duty to retreat.

Even if Fickling's concession he was an invited guest into Shiver's premises is not taken into consideration, Fickling's requested charge² was erroneous. If Fickling is not a guest of Shiver in Shiver's bedroom, then the question before the court becomes whether the bedroom rented by Shiver was the premises of Shiver or Fickling. Respondent submits Fickling was not entitled to instruct the jury he had no duty to retreat from his **tenant's** premises before using deadly force. This precise question appears to be unsettled law in South Carolina.

In 2016, the Supreme Court clarified the necessity of the duty to retreat in circumstances involving cohabitants under the same roof. In *State v. Jones*, 416 S.C. 283, 786 S.E.2d 132 (2016), the Court said a person who uses deadly force in response to an attack in his or her own home by a cohabitant can seek immunity from prosecution under provision of Protection of Persons and Property Act ("ACT"), which codified the Castle doctrine by allowing immunity for use of deadly force by a person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in "another place" where he has a right to be, provided the person can establish his reasonable fear of the attacker. See S.C. Code 1976, § 16-11-440(C). The Act requires a defendant seeking immunity to meet the same elements of a claim of self-defense, absent the duty to retreat. Though *Jones* addressed cohabitants, the attack in *Jones* occurred in common areas of an

² The requested instruction read, "If the defendant was on his own premises, the defendant had no duty to retreat before acting in self-defense." (R. p. 534.)

apartment between domestic partners who presumably had no limitations on their access to all areas of the home. *Jones*, at 289, 786 S.E.2d at 135. Though at first blush *Jones*, and its progeny, may seem controlling, they do not address the particular issue at hand, in which the bedrooms were distinct, money making properties for one of the parties.

In *State v. Rochester*, 72 S.C. 194, 51 S.E. 685 (1905), the Court addressed the question of whether a defendant, who was standing in his own premises, had a duty to retreat when he shot his attacker, who was standing on a public road. At the time, the Court declared, "If the defendant was attacked while on his own premises by the deceased, who was at that time on the public highway, or where he had a right to be, then the defendant was bound to retreat before taking the life of his adversary, if there was a probability of his being able to escape without losing his life or suffering grievous bodily harm. *Rochester*, 72 S.C. at 194, 51 S.E. at 688 (1905). The Court reasoned that under this scenario, the defendant does not have the right to "eject his adversary from the place where he had a right to be." *Id.*

Twenty years later in *State v. Gordon*, 128 S.C. 422, 122 S.E. 501, 503 (1924), the Court again addressed the "right to eject" reasoning in determining whether a worker had a duty to retreat when the attack occurred at the place of business by another co-worker. In finding neither party had the duty to retreat when both were in their place of business, the Court noted the holding in *Rochester*, and explained the rationale of the seemingly inconsistent holdings:

If the deceased was where he had a right to be and the accused wrongfully brought on the difficulty by attempting to eject him, accused would not be relieved of the duty to retreat by the fact he was on his own premises, for the reason that he would not have been without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Where the accused relies on the right to eject to establish the first element of self-defense, that he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty, he must also rely on this "right to eject" his assailant to relieve him from the duty of retreating on his own premises. That, as we apprehend, is the proposition for which the *Rochester* Case stands. But where one on his own premises, without

fault on his part, is attacked by another, he is not bound to retreat because he may have no legal right to eject his assailant from the place where the assailant happens to be. Thus, in *State v. Gibbs, supra*, where “both combatants were charged with being assailant, and each was on his own place,” the defendant was properly held entitled to the instruction that he was not bound to retreat if assaulted, but could stand his ground and “meet such attacks even to killing his assailant.” Obviously, the defendant in that case had no right to eject his adversary from the adversary's own premises. The right to eject test was not applicable there and for the same reason it is not applicable here.

Gordon, 128 S.C. 422, 122 S.E. at 503 (emphasis added). Reading *Gordon* and *Rochester* together, the law recognizes the limitations on the claim of self-defense by a defendant who purports to remove a lawful guest, or tenant, from a place the tenant has a right to be. That nuance, the right to eject, necessarily distinguishes the parties, and the holding, from the category of cases in which an attack occurs between co-habitants and under the same roof. In considering a scenario involving a landlord and a tenant, *Gordon* also suggests the accused landlord, if wrongfully ejecting a lawful tenant, loses the benefit of the Castle doctrine because he has previously relinquished his claim to the premises to the tenant.

In the instant case, Fickling placed an ad on Craigslist to advertise the rent of a room in his trailer. (R. p. 137, lines 15-21.) Shiver paid Fickling a considerable amount of money, an amount over and above Fickling's own housing cost, to rent one of the bedrooms. (R. p. 385, line 22 – p. 386, line 18.) Another, unrelated tenant occupied the other bedroom. (R. p. 62, line 25 – p. 22.) The residents shared the bathroom, but there is no testimony that the residents all shared access to all parts of the home. (R. p. 145, line 22 – p. 146, line 5.) By all appearances, the occupancy of the trailer was a business arrangement among the unrelated parties, as opposed to a communal living arrangement amongst friends or family members. Moreover, the crime did not happen in a common area, nor did the crime happen in an area distinctly occupied by Fickling or Lunney. Instead, the crime occurred in the tenant's bedroom, a room for which he paid a

significant amount of money. By virtue of that arrangement, the bedroom was Shiver's premises, not Fickling's.

Further, Fickling admitted he sought to eject Shiver from the trailer. Fickling testified he told Shiver he wanted him to move out of the trailer just before Shiver hit him. (R. p 417, lines 3-14.) As *Gordon* and *Rochester* recognized, Fickling was possibly at fault in bringing about the difficulty by wrongfully attempting to eject Shiver from the rented bedroom -- the jury was charged on that element. However, if Fickling, as the landlord, has the ability to eject someone from a property, then he has implicitly relinquished his claim to the premises in exchange for his financial gain. This concept, that Fickling waived his claim of premises, for purposes of the Castle doctrine, by renting out the room to Shiver was what the trial court alluded to in his decision to decline to charge.³ Even Fickling's counsel acknowledged the room was the premises of Shiver, not Fickling: (R. p. 527, lines 21-25.)

Appellant argues the Court should not draw lines between tenants, subtenants, and roommates when everyone lives under one roof. (IBOA, p. 9.) Respectfully, the more reasoned approach, particularly suited to the facts of this case, is to draw lines exactly where the business arrangement among the residents delineated them. Because Fickling viewed Shiver as a tenant he could remove from the bedroom, when Fickling walked into Shiver's room he was not, for purposes of the Castle doctrine, within his own premises -- he was on Shiver's premises. The Castle doctrine, with its absolution of the duty to retreat, holds that if someone invades another's private space, that person need not retreat outside of that private space, before standing his ground and meeting force with force. Had the crime occurred in the living room, in the

³ THE COURT: --- as we said before the victim rented the room and it was his premises; even though he didn't -- it was his premises and the defendant had no right to enter that room without permission. (R. p. 527, lines 17-20.)

bathroom, or certainly in Fickling's bedroom, Fickling would have had no duty to retreat. Instead, the crime occurred in one of the two rooms that were distinctly NOT the premises of Fickling. As the landlord, Fickling could expect no safety or refuge in the clearly delineated, inhabited rental property, which in this case was Shiver's bedroom.

Harmless Error

Even assuming Fickling's testimony to be true, Fickling's liability did not turn on the fourth element of self-defense, or whether he had no other probable way to avoid the danger. Fickling testified Shiver hit him in the face unexpectedly, and Fickling relied on his boxing training to fight back. (R: p. 417, lines 15-19.) Thus, it was not Fickling's immediate reaction to being struck that was seriously in dispute. Instead, assuming the jury believed Shiver did actually strike Fickling, it was the amount of force Fickling used when he fought back with the cat's paw tool and the taser. This case turns not on the duty to retreat, but whether Fickling was without fault in bringing on the difficulty when he entered Shiver's room and whether his use of deadly force was reasonable. No party disputed that the jury was thoroughly charged on the elements of self-defense. Even if the trial court erred by refusing to also charge the jury Fickling had no duty to retreat, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the appeal must be dismissed as untimely, or, in the alternative, the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the trial court should be affirmed.